Appeal From The District Court Of Appeal, Fifth District

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Neal D. Bowen, Esquire Osceola County Attorney Co-Counsel for Petitioner 17 South Vernon Avenue Kissimmee, Florida 32741 (305) 847-1200 William L. Earl, Esquire PEEPLES, EARL & BLANK, P.A. Counsel for Petitioner One Biscayne Tower, Suite 3636 Two South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 358-3000

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record below is presently not prepared and will not be transmitted until October 20, 1986. Petitioner, Osceola County will, therefore, cite to the record as set forth in its Appendix to this Brief. Parties and other matters frequently referred to are as follows:

- App. ____. Citations to the partial record provided in Petitioner's Appendix accompanying this Brief.
- Osceola County. Petitioner herein and the Petitioner in the original prohibition proceedings below.
- <u>St. Johns</u>. The St. Johns River Water Management District is the Respondent in this Court as it was below.
- 4. <u>DER</u>. The Florida Department of Environmental Regulation is the agency which the court below found had implied statutory authority to delegate certain powers to St. Johns. DER was an <u>amicus</u> below.
- 5. <u>Brevard County</u>. Brevard County was the permit applicant below. A dependent special district of Brevard County, the South Brevard Water Supply Authority, appeared as amicus below.

-1-

A. The Case

This case is before the Court pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution. Osceola County seeks reversal of a decision by the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District,¹ finding implied legislative authority for an administrative agency, the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, to delegate to yet another agency, the St. Johns River Water Management District, the power to issue permits to withdraw, transport, and use water not located within the limits of St. Johns's statutorily delineated geographic boundaries. The decision below presents first impression questions of statewide importance that will fundamentally affect the future permitting and distribution of Florida's finite water resources.

B. The Facts

This case began in 1984, when Brevard County applied to the South Florida Water Management District ("South Florida"), one of Florida's five regional water management districts, for a consumptive use permit to develop a large well field in the Holopaw area of Osceola County.² This permit application was unusual in

1/ Osceola County v. St. Johns River Water Management District, 486 So.2d 616 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

^{2/} App. 27, Affidavit of Dr. Gleason, Water Resources Director, South Florida Water Management District.

that Brevard County, where the water was to be consumed, is located entirely within the jurisdictional boundaries of another water management district, the St. Johns River Water Management District ("St. Johns"). Brevard intended to construct a major well field and withdraw and transport large volumes of water from Osceola County in the South Florida Water Management District to the St. Johns River Water Management District to be used in South Brevard County.³ Because Brevard's application required that the legislatively established geographic, jurisdictional line between these two water management districts be crossed, it is referred to as an interdistrict water permit.⁴

1. Legislative Framework

The statute controlling the permitting of water use and transport does not prescribe how to proceed with applications such as that filed by Brevard County.⁵ Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, known as the "Florida Water Resources Act of 1972,"⁶ replaced several predecessor statutes and a common law system of case-by-case judicial water rights determinations with a comprehensive administrative system of regulation, resource protection,

⁶/ Ch. 72-299, Laws of Fla.

-3-

^{3/} App. 19 (Brevard Permit Application).

^{4/} The term "interdistrict" and "transdistrict" permit will be used interchangeably herein.

⁵/ App. 66, St. Johns's Response to Order to Show Cause.

and water use permitting.⁷ To implement this system, the legislature, effective July 1, 1973, created six regional water management districts,⁸ including the St. Johns River Water Management District and the South Florida Water Management District. The geographic limits of each district's jurisdiction was statutorily set forth by the legislature in detailed metes and bounds legal descriptions.⁹

This overall statutory scheme vests DER with general supervisory powers over water resources and the water management districts, and authorizes DER to exercise any power authorized to be exercised by a water management district.¹⁰ At the same time, the statute requires that "to the greatest extent practicable such power should be delegated to the governing board of a water management district" because "water resource problems of the state vary from region to region."¹¹

In dealing specifically with the subject of water use permitting, the legislature provided that either DER or a governing board of a particular water management district could require

⁹/ <u>See</u> § 373.069, Fla. Stat. (1985).

¹⁰/ § 373.026(7), Fla. Stat. (1985).

¹¹/ § 373.016(3), Fla. Stat. (1985).

-4-

PEEPLES, EARL & BLANK

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

^{7/} See Village of Tequesta v. Jupiter Inlet Corporation, 371 So.2d 663, 670 (Fla. 1979).

^{8/} Ch. 73-190, § 12, Laws of Fla. (in 1977, the districts were reorganized into five districts. Ch. 77-104, § 113, Laws of Fla.).

permits for consumptive use of water.¹² Subsequently, the legislature mandated that each district, by October 31, 1983, implement consumptive use permitting programs.¹³ DER, by administrative rule, has delegated its water use permitting powers to South Florida and St. Johns.¹⁴ The water management districts presently permit all water use but have no independent authority to permit the use of water located outside their own borders.¹⁵ Both South Florida and St. Johns, by rule, have formally implemented the Act's consumptive use permitting powers within their respective districts.¹⁶

2. Administrative Review and Proposed Action on Brevard's Permit Application

As part of its review of Brevard's permit application, South Florida twice requested additional information from Brevard County concerning the impacts such a large scale withdrawal would have on water resources in the South Florida Water Management District at the site of the proposed well field in Osceola County. Despite these requests, Brevard "failed to provide any

13/ See § 373.216, Fla. Stat. (1985).

¹⁴/ <u>See</u> Fla. Admin. Code Rule 17-101.040(10)(a)(1),(3).

15/ See Osceola County, 486 So.2d at 619 (no independent statutory authorization).

16/ Fla. Admin. Code Rules 40E-2.031 (South Florida), 40C-2.031 (St. Johns).

-5-

^{12/ § 373.219(1),} Fla. Stat. (1985).

information regarding the <u>impact</u> of the proposed withdrawal in Osceola County."¹⁷ Rather than comply with South Florida's request, Brevard instead filed the same incomplete application in its "home district," St. Johns, leaving its application in South Florida pending and incomplete. Both Brevard applications addressed only the "need issues" relating to the demand for the water in St. Johns, and failed to provide any information regarding the reasonableness or impact of this large scale withdrawal on water resources.¹⁸

Osceola County notified St. Johns of its concerns regarding Brevard's permit.¹⁹ Osceola County was concerned because the legislature has imposed express statutory duties on counties concerning the conservation, planning, and supply of water resources. Local governments are statutorily mandated, among other things, to plan for the most appropriate uses of water, to facilitate the adequate and efficient provision of water, and to conserve, develop, utilize, and protect natural resources including water.²⁰

¹⁷/ App. 27, <u>Affidavit of Dr. Gleason</u>, Water Resources Director, South Florida Water Management District (emphasis in original).

^{18/} App. 26, Affidavit of R. Moresi, former Director, Division of Resource Management, St. Johns River Water Management District.

^{19/} App. 11, see Osceola's Verified Petition for Prohibition.
20/ § 163.3161(3), Fla. Stat. (1985).

Local governments must also adopt comprehensive plans to guide future development and growth.²¹ These plans are required to contain a conservation element for the conservation, development, utilization, and protection of natural resources including water.²² In addition, these mandated local comprehensive plans must contain a potable water element to provide and plan for the future provision of potable water in the county.²³ Local governments are also legislatively mandated to "assess their current, as well as projected, water needs and sources for a ten year period."²⁴

Notwithstanding Osceola's objections and the absence of information on the reasonableness of the permit or the impact of interdistrict diversion, St. Johns determined that the application was sufficient and issued a notice of proposed agency action. St. Johns had limited its review only to the need for water in Brevard County and failed "to address the impact of the proposed withdrawal on the water resources in Osceola County or on the water users of Osceola County, as required by the reasonable-beneficial use test for consumptive use permits set forth in Chapter 373, Florida Statutes."²⁵ Over Osceola County's

- ²¹/ § 163.3167(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1985).
- ²²/ § 163.3177(6)(d), Fla. Stat. (1985).
- ²³/ § 163.3177(6)(c), Fla. Stat. (1985).
- ²⁴/ § 163.3177(6)(d), Fla. Stat. (1985).

²⁵/ App. 26, <u>Affidavit of R. Moresi</u>, former Director, Division of Resource Management, St. Johns River Water Management District.

-7-

objections, St. Johns scheduled Brevard County's application to permit the withdrawal of water in the South Florida District for a hearing on May 7, 1985.²⁶

Osceola sought a writ of prohibition from the district court, questioning the subject matter jurisdiction of St. Johns to act upon a permit for the withdrawal, use, and transport of water located outside its legislatively defined jurisdictional boundaries.²⁷ The district court granted an order to show cause prohibiting St. Johns from acting on Brevard's permit pending the district court's decision on the merits.

On March 6, 1986, the lower court rendered its decision.²⁸ After rejecting St. Johns's assertion that Osceola lacked standing,²⁹ a divided district court construed Chapter 373 to hold that "the legislature has impliedly granted to D.E.R. the authority to allow inter-district diversions of water, and such authority is properly delegated to the water management districts."³⁰

26/ App. 13.

28/ App. 1.

²⁹/ In summarily disposing of the standing issue, the court stated "that counties in this state have various statutory duties and responsibilities with respect to planning for water management and conservation, sufficient to give them an interest in any activity of the state or of the agencies of the state as may appear to affect those duties and responsibilities." <u>Osceola</u> <u>County</u>, 486 So.2d at 617.

³⁰/ <u>Osceola County</u>, 486 So.2d at 620.

-8-

^{27/} App. 11.

The district court conceded that water management districts do not have independent authority to allow interdistrict diversions, but predicated its finding of implied authority upon a belief that "[n]othing in the Water Resources Act prohibits D.E.R. from allowing inter-district diversions of water,"³¹ that authority was necessarily implied from Section statutory 373.223(2) and from DER's grant of statewide power to regulate the management of water resources. The dissent asserted that the real issue was "whether or not one water management district has jurisdiction to act on a consumptive use permit outside of its statutory boundaries, under the provisions of the Florida Water Resources Act of 1972."32

Pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution, Osceola County petitioned to invoke this Court's jurisdiction on grounds that the district court's decision directly conflicted with <u>Askew v. Cross Key Waterways</u>, 372 So.2d 913 (Fla. 1978) and <u>Department of Professional Regulation v. Pariser</u>, 483 So.2d 28 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), and because the decision expressly affects the statutory water planning and provision duties of a class of constitutional officers, county commissioners. On August 29, 1986, this Court ordered the filing of Osceola's brief on the merits.

- 31/ Osceola County, 486 So.2d at 619.
- ³²/ Osceola County, 486 So.2d at 620 (Sharp, J., dissenting).

-9-

PEEPLES, EARL & BLANK

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

There is no express statutory authority for water management districts to issue permits for water beyond their legislatively delineated jurisdictional limits. The language and history of the controlling statutory provision, section 373.223, Florida Statutes, provide no support for the lower court's finding of necessarily implied administrative authority. The lower court's holding is, in fact, contrary to the present scheme of regional water permitting, statutory permitting standards, and specific legislatively delineated water management district boundaries.

The decision below directly conflicts with the holding in <u>Askew v. Cross Key Waterways</u>, 372 So.2d 913 (Fla. 1979), by finding implied statutory authority to administratively modify water management district boundaries in violation of Florida's nondelegation doctrine, under which an administrative agency may not exercise the legislative function of modifying the geographic boundaries of administrative jurisdiction. Assuming such implied statutory authority could be delegated to an administrative agency, the matter would still be unconstitutional under Article II, Section 3, because there are no legislative standards to guide the permitting of interdistrict diversions of water. Without such legislative standards, neither citizens nor the courts will be able to know how, when, or where such permits are lawful.

-10-

ARGUMENT

I.

CHAPTER 373, FLORIDA STATUTES, DOES NOT GRANT IMPLIED STATUTORY AUTHORITY TO ALLOW THE ISSUANCE OF PERMITS FOR DIVERSION OF WATER BEYOND LEGISLATIVELY ESTABLISHED JURISDICTIONAL BOUNDARIES.

The court below was unable to find any express legislative grant authorizing DER to give a water management district the authority to issue permits for withdrawal, use, and transport of water located in another water management district. The district court's finding of implied statutory authority for the permitting of interdistrict diversions was predicated on section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes. Such a finding contravenes the language and legislative history of that section.

A. Section 373.223(2) Provides No Basis for Implied Statutory Authority

The lower court specifically predicated its "necessarily implied" statutory authority for interdistrict permitting by St. Johns on section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes.³³ Section 373.223(2) provides:

> The governing board or the department may authorize the holder of a use permit to transport and use ground or surface water beyond overlying land, across county boundaries, or outside the watershed from which it

33/ Osceola County, 486 So.2d at 619.

is taken if the governing board or department determines that such transport and use is consistent with the public interest, and no local government shall adopt or enforce any law, ordinance, rule, regulation, or order to the contrary.

(emphasis added).

Careful analysis of this section and its history is crucial to any finding or "necessarily implied" statutory authority to allow interdistrict diversions. In addition to the lower court's reliance, St. Johns has identified this provision as the sole authority for its rule purporting to authorize it to permit water use and transport beyond its district boundaries.³⁴ DER has also asserted that section 373.223 "plainly authorizes" DER to allow water resources to be transferred from one district to another.³⁵

This statute, on its face, makes no reference to the transportation of water across legislatively established district boundaries. The statute enumerates three types of water transport that may occur within a water management district: transport of ground water beyond the land lying above it, known as "overlying land"; transport of water across county boundaries; and transport of water beyond a watershed. § 373.223(2), Fla. Stat. (1985). To understand the meaning of these provisions one

³⁴/ <u>See</u> Fla. Admin. Code Rule 40C-2.312. Section 120.54(7), Florida Statutes, requires that each agency's rules identify the specific section or subsection of Florida Statutes being implemented. St. Johns has named Section 373.223 as the statute being implemented in its interdistrict diversion.

^{35/} See App. 79, DER's Response to Order to Show Cause.

must first understand the common law rule which the current statute supplanted. See generally Village of Tequesta v. Jupiter Inlet Corporation, 371 So.2d 663 (Fla. 1979).

The common law generally prohibited the transport and use of water beyond riparian land when dealing with surface waters, or overlying lands when groundwater was being removed. <u>See Hamann</u>, "Consumptive Water Use Permitting," I Florida Environmental and Land Use Law 10-12 (Environmental and Land Use Law Section, The Florida Bar, 1986); Maloney, "Florida Water Law," <u>Legal and</u> <u>Administrative Systems for Water Allocation and Management</u>, 35-36 (Cox ed. 1978).

A limited statutory exception to this common law rule was passed in 1957. See Ch. 57-380, § 8, Laws of Fla. This enactoriginally codified as section 373.141(1), Florida ment. Statutes, abrogated the common law prohibition and authorized the diversion of excess waters "beyond riparian or overlying land." See Maloney, "Florida's New Water Resources Law," 10 U. Fla. L. Rev. 119, 132 (1957). The drafters of the Model Water Code, the basis of the subsequent 1972 Florida Water Resources Act, expanded the language of the 1957 exception and included it in the proposed Model Water Code. See Maloney, Ausness, and Morris, A Model Water Code § 2.02(2) (1972)(commentary). When the legislature enacted the Florida Water Resources Act of 1972, it incorporated this proposal and amended the 1957 wording to eliminate the excess water requirement and to include transport out-

-13-

side the watershed from which the water was taken. See Ch. 72-299, Part II, § 3, Laws of Fla.

The enactment of the 1972 Water Resources Act, however, provided no authority for transporting water across county boundaries or across the statutory boundaries of the water management districts established by the legislature in the very same Act. <u>Id.</u> These omissions are critical since these specific enactments are in derogation of the common law and must be strictly construed. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Carlile v. Game & Fresh Water Fish Commission</u>, 354 So.2d 362, 364 (Fla. 1977).

Subsequent legislative amendments went even further to foreclose a broad construction of these legislative grants. In 1976, subsequent to the establishment of the water management districts and with full cognizance of their role and regulatory function, the legislature added an additional authorization to allow the transport of water "across county boundaries." Ch. 76-243, § 10, Laws of Fla. This legislation resolved any doubts as to the right to permit the use and transport of water across boundaries within a water management district, but included no language extending permitting authority across legislatively defined water management district boundaries.

In section 373.069(1), Florida Statutes, the legislature has painstakingly delineated, in metes and bounds, the precise geographic boundaries of each of the five water management districts. § 373.069(1)(a)-(e), Fla. Stat. (1985). If the

-14-

legislature desires that these boundaries be expanded, it need only add to the exceptions enumerated in section 373.223(2). It has not done so. The history and language of section 373.223 provide no authority for the lower court's finding of implied authority to modify the legislatively established geographic jurisdictional limits of such districts. The court's finding of an implied exception should be reversed.

B. Rulemaking Authority Should Not Be Implied Where the Legislature Has Expressly Spoken.

Despite the absence of express statutory authority or any authority reasonably implied from section 373.223, the district court nonetheless found implied authority for St. Johns to permit the withdrawal and transport of water located beyond its legisla-Both DER and St. Johns have tively delineated boundaries. adopted rules seeking to administratively implement or to provide standards for interdistrict diversions of water. St. Johns's rule cites only section 373.223 as a basis for its implementing statutory authority and provides no criteria or standards. See Admin. Code Rule 40C-2.312. DER's Fla. rule purports to establish administrative standards for the permitting of interdistrict transfers of water despite the absence of express authority or any legislative standards. See Fla. Admin. Code Rule 17-40.05.

The lower court's affirmation of such rules, on the basis of implied statutory authority, directly conflicts with a recent

-15-

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