11-14

O/A 1-7-87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OSCEOLA COUNTY, a political
subdivision of the State of
Florida,

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The actual issue in this case, as cogently expressed by the lower court is "whether transfer of water from one management district to another is authorized by law or [p]ut another way, does the [DER] have the statutory authority to adopt an administrative rule prescribing the procedure to be followed and the guidelines to be observed by the respective water management districts in considering inter-district water transfers." The issue is not whether an individual water management district may independently authorize the withdrawal, transfer and use of water outside its jurisdictional boundaries, as improperly framed by Osceola County. Indeed the lower court specifically found that St. Johns even if it approved an application, could not do what Osceola County assails.

Various statutory provisions authorize Brevard County to secure water for use by citizens within the county. The various statutory provisions are a general authorization that is without limitation concerning where Brevard County may seek to withdraw water from provided the transport and use is determined by the DER or water management district or districts to be consistent with the public interest and otherwise qualified for a permit per Section 373.223(1), Florida Statutes.

Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes, was enacted to abrogate particular common law water use restrictions and preempt county claims to regulate the allocation of water and

thereby prevent the transport and use of water across county boundaries. The transport across water management district boundaries was not included within Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes, for the obvious reason that there was no common law restriction against such transport and use since the five districts did not exist under the common law and only came into existence upon the enactment of Chapter 373. Transport across county boundaries was later inserted in the provision to complement the implementation of Section 373.217, Florida Statutes, which precludes county interference with the Department's and the District's exclusive authority over the permitting of consumptive water uses and the transportation thereof. Consequently the clear intent of Section 373.223(2) is not to limit the use and transport of water as asserted by Osceola County, but rather to broaden the opportunity for water use by eliminating common law restrictions and artificial parochial impediments so that the full beneficial use of Florida's waters may be achieved.

Section 373.223, Florida Statutes, provides specific legislative authority to authorize the transport of water whenever the statutory criteria for issuance of a permit and transport and use are met, including across district boundaries. The fact that consumptive use permitting has been delegated to the water management districts does not eliminate specific authority conferred by the statute. Moreover, specific statutory authority given the Department authorizes it to specify a procedure whereby districts can consider requests

to transport water across district boundaries and factual considerations for district rules relating to public interest determinations as are set forth in Florida Administrative Code Rule 17-40.05. Chapter 373 is replete with statutory guidelines and standards clothed with common law meanings to guide both the DER and the water management districts in implementing the purposes and in intent of Part II of Chapter 373.

ARGUMENT

The resolution of the issues before this Court lies in the proper perspective regarding the comprehensive legislative scheme set forth in Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, for the regulation of Florida's water resources. The District's position represents an interpretation of Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, founded in specific authority conferred in the statute, which enables management and use of the water resources in the State to the maximum degree in the most efficient and cost effective manner. Osceola County's parochial interpretation of the statute is entirely contrary to the intent and purposes of the statute because it has the opposite result of the District's. Osceola County's entire argument is completely contingent upon this Court finding the need for the words "water management district boundary" in a statutory provision. The lower court properly rejected how Osceola County narrowly framed the issue in terms of the absolute necessity for the words "transport and use ... across ... water management district boundaries" to appear in Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes, and instead adopted the logical interpretation of Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, that inter-district transport of water is authorized under the specific authority granted to the DER to regulate the management of Florida's water resources on a state-wide basis and to authorize the transport and use of water beyond overlying land, across county boundaries or outside the watershed from which it

is taken. The secondary issue in this case is whether the legislative scheme established under Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, authorizes the DER to establish and delegate an administrative policy mechanism whereby the conservation and maximum beneficial use of Florida's waters may be realized on a state-wide and regional basis when an applicant, such as Brevard County, wishes to withdraw water from within the boundaries of one water management district and transport it for consumptive use within another water management district. Review of Chapter 373 reveals that not only is the DER specifically authorized to establish such a mechanism, but it has a duty to do so.

I.

BREVARD COUNTY IS SPECIFICALLY AUTHORIZED BY
STATUTE TO APPLY FOR APPROVAL OF A CONSUMPTIVE
USE OF WATER THAT WOULD TRANSPORT WATER DRAWN
IN SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
TO THE ST. JOHNS RIVER WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT
AND THERE USE IT.

A seminal adjunct of Osceola County's position is that not only does St. Johns not have the authority to consider an application that proposes to transport water across water management district boundaries but that Brevard County does not have the authority to apply for approval to transport water across water management district boundaries. However, Sections 125.01, 127.01, 153.03 and 373.223, Florida Statutes, specifically authorize Brevard County to seek approval to transport

water across the boundary of SFWMD and St. Johns and use it within St. Johns.

This Court should do as the lower court did and decline to rule for Osceola County. The reasons for doing so lie in the clear literal meaning of Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes, as written, the legislative history of the provision which supports the clear literal meaning the District gives the provision, other statutory provisions in pari materia with it and because Osceola County's position when applied defeats sound, comprehensive planning by local governments. It also is defeative of the purposes of Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, and this will be discussed under Point II.

Sections 125.01, 127.01 and 153.03, Florida Statutes, specifically authorize Brevard County to go outside of Brevard County into any adjoining county to acquire land and construct or purchase water systems and supply water within both counties. These specific authorizations are general authorizations that are not in any fashion limited except as is specified in Section 153.03(1) and (5), Florida Statutes: a county may not attempt to take over a water supply system of a municipality or industrial or manufacturing plant without the permission of the owner. There is no constraint in these statutory provisions against transporting water across water management district boundaries.

The District suggests that the absence of a prohibition against transporting water across water management district boundaries versus the presence of the constraints on county

authority that are stated in Section 153.03, Florida Statutes, provide a great deal of insight into legislative intent concerning Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes. Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes, authorizes consumptive use permittees to apply for permission to transport and use ground water, which is the type of water Brevard County seeks, beyond the land overlying the water and across county boundaries, which Brevard seeks to do as well. The statutory provision also authorizes transport and use of water outside the watershed from which it is taken but herein Brevard County's proposed transport and use would not constitute a transport and use outside the ground watershed from which Brevard County would draw the water but would be a transport and use within the same ground water watershed. Thus, giving Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes, its literal reading, Brevard County is authorized to seek approval to transport water from Osceola County and use it in Brevard County. Statutes are to be given their plain, unambiguous meaning. Holly v. Auld, 450 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1984).

Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes, as noted by Osceola County, was initially enacted as part of Chapter 72-299, Laws of Florida and as originally enacted provided:

The governing board or the department may authorize the holder of a use permit to transport and use ground or surface water beyond overlying land or outside the watershed from which it is taken if the governing board or department determines that such transport and use is consistent with the public interest. (emphasis added).

When Chapter 373 was enacted, the Legislature intended to provide a statewide system both on the state and regional level to fully control the Florida's waters so as to realize their full beneficial use for a growing state. Consequently, to have an efficient and comprehensive system of water law under the administrative permit system of water management contemplated under Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, the Legislature enacted Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes, as derived from the Model Water Code, to eliminate the eastern riparian common law overlying land and watershed place-of-use restrictions so that the comprehensive administrative system established under the statute could be effectively and efficiently administered to meet Florida's water needs. See, Maloney, Ausness and Morris, A Model Water Code, (1972), section 2.02(2) commentary and in general, the Chapter 2 commentary. The intent to depart from the common law was noted by Osceola County.

It is at this point that St. Johns and Osceola County part ways in interpreting the legislative history of Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes. Indeed in 1976 the Legislature amended Chapter 373 and Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes. Up to that time, Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes, was a specific authorization to counties without any stated limit on where they could seek to transport water from, except that the county be qualified pursuant to Section 373.223(1), Florida Statutes, and the transport and use be in the public interest per Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes. Chapter 76-243, Sections 9 and 10, Laws of Florida, was not intended to place a

limitation on the authority and ability of counties to seek water outside their boundaries but was intended to curtail the efforts of counties, such as Osceola County's, to frustrate consumptive use permitting.

Codified as Section 373.217, Florida Statutes, Chapter 76-243, Section 9, Laws of Florida, preempted to the DER and the water management districts the exclusive authority for regulating the consumptive use of water and the transportation of water and specifically prevents local governments from enacting and enforcing any law, ordinance, rule or regulation that would forbid a consumptive use permittee from transporting water. See, Cammack v. Seminole County, Case No. 84-3270 CA (Fla. 18th Cir. Ct. 1985). To fully implement Section 373.217, Florida Statutes, and to maintain consistency, the Legislature concomitantly amended Section 373.223(2) in Chapter 76-243, Section 10, Laws of Florida, by authorizing the districts or the DER to permit the transport of water "across county boundaries" and prohibiting any local government from adopting or enforcing "any law, ordinance, rule regulation or order to the contrary". These amendments, read in pari materia, make it clear that the verbage that was added to Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes, was not intended to restrict the authority of counties to seek water in adjoining counties but instead was intended to curtail the efforts of adjoining counties to thwart consumptive use permitting that involved transport and use of water across county boundaries. It was the clear legislative intent, by the very terms of Section 373.223, Florida Statutes,

that the opposition of adjoining counties be limited to: (1) whether the applicant should be issued a consumptive use permit and (2) whether the proposed transport and use was in the public interest.

This case is nothing more than a spurious attempt through a specious contention to thwart the purpose for Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes, as it was initially enacted and subsequently amended. It is superfluous for the Legislature to insert language in Section 373.223(2), regarding water management district boundaries since obviously there was never a common law restriction regarding a use being confined to within district boundaries since the districts never existed until the enactment of Chapter 373. Likewise, it is superfluous for the legislature to insert language in section 373.223(2) regarding water management district boundaries in addition to county boundaries because the authorization to counties to go beyond their boundaries encompasses authorization to propose to cross water management districts and because of the legislative intent behind Chapter 76-243, Sections 9 and 10, Laws of Florida.

Moreover, the latest legislative expression relating to the transport of water across water management district boundaries, Section 187.201(8)(b)3, Florida Statutes, (1985), states that it is the policy in Florida to "encourage the development of local and regional supplies within water management districts instead of transporting surface water across district boundaries". This statutory provision does not establish regulatory authority but it does indicate that transport of

surface water is not prohibited and that there is no policy encouraging or discouraging the transport of ground water. Thus every legislative expression on the transport of water is a general authorization with specific limitations that do not include a prohibition against transporting water across water management district boundaries.

Osceola County ignores the clear meaning and the legislative intent of Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes, and asserts that failure of the provision to refer to district boundaries precludes transfers across such boundaries. The point of law in Pariser is that if the Legislature says an agency act in a particular way the agency cannot act in another. That case is clearly distinguishable from the instant case. Herein the agencies would act in conformance with the authority the Legislature provided them to the extent the Legislature provided authority and the authority provided the agencies is valid in every respect. The doctrine of expressio unius est exclusio alterius, applied in Pariser and which is what Osceola County's whole argument is based on, is not a mechanical rule of law universally applied to a statutory provision without regard to legislative intent and particularly when its application leads to an absurd or inconsistent result. Smalley Transportation Company v. Moed's Transfer Company, 373 So.2d 55 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979). For illustration, the illogical extrapolation of Osceola County's interpretation of the provision and the application of the doctrine would also mean that transfers across municipal boundaries are also precluded since

there is no reference to municipal boundaries in the statutory provision; there could be no transfers across special district boundaries since there is no reference to special district boundaries in Section 373.223(2), Florida Statutes; there could be no transport across regional planning council boundaries since there is no reference to such boundaries; and that certain regional water supply authorities currently established under Section 373.1962, Florida Statutes, cannot fulfill their functions simply because the boundaries of the authorities are divided by water management district boundaries.⁴ Moreover, to accept Osceola County's position would also mean that transfers within the same county, city or property would be prohibited if the county, city or property was divided by a district boundary line. Such divisions are prevalent since district boundaries were determined to conform closely to hydrological lines rather than political or ownership boundaries. See, Maloney, Plager, Ausness and Canter, Florida Water Law 1980, (Univ. of Fla. 1980) at 210; A Model Water Code, supra at Section 1.15 commentary. For example, parts of Orange, including the City

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